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Location



299-307 BOURKE STREET AND 276-286 LITTLE COLLINS STREET MELBOURNE, MELBOURNE CITY

Municipality

MELBOURNE CITY

Level of significance

Registered

Victorian Heritage Register (VHR) Number

H2154

Heritage Overlay Numbers

HO768

VHR Registration

July 10, 2008

Heritage Listing

Victorian Heritage Register

Statement of Significance

Last updated on - April 7, 2008

What is significant?

The David Jones store on the south side of Bourke Street was built in two stages in 1929-30 and 1938 as the
flagship store of G J Coles Pty Ltd to a design by the prominent Melbourne architect Harry Norris. George Coles
opened his first variety store in Smith Street in 1914 with the slogan 'Nothing over 2/6', opened a store in Bourke
Street in 1924, and by World War II, despite the Depression, the company operated eighty-six stores throughout
Australia, many of them designed by Norris. Norris was the architect for G J Coles & Co, and was a frequent
visitor to the United States, where he studied the latest trends in American architecture and in retail design, and
his work in Melbourne showed a strong American influence. His buildings demonstrate the move towards greater
use of colour in facades in the 1920s and 1930s, especially in the use of glazed terracotta. The seven-storey
eastern section of the store was built by E A Watts, costing ?500,000 for the site, building and fitout, and opened
in March 1930. The 1938 four-storey extension by Cockram & Sons matched the original in style but destroyed
the symmetry of the first building. The store was famous for its first floor cafeteria, decorated in a Mexican-
inspired Art Deco style, the first and largest in Australia and a highlight of shopping trips to the city for many
Victorians. The store was sold to David Jones in 1986 and was altered by the architectural firm Bates Smart &
McCutcheon; the exterior was left intact but the cafeteria and many of the Art Deco interior features were
removed. David Jones is Australia's oldest department store company, having opened their first store in Sydney
in 1838.

The David Jones store is a seven-storey reinforced concrete and steel building with a four storey extension to the
west, both in a Commercial Gothic style. The facades are clad with striking pinkish-red Wunderlich terracotta
faience, with decorative Hispanic/Indian/Jazz details in pink and blue. The first floor windows are arched with
wrought iron railings and above these narrow terracotta clad ribs rise up between the upper windows through the
decorative parapet above. The metal window frames are painted blue. The Little Collins Street facade is in a
similar mode but is less ornate, and its upper levels are clad in cream rather than pink tiles. The original



shopfronts have been replaced. Vestiges of the original interior decorative scheme survive in the tiling on some of
the first floor columns and in some plaster ceilings on the ground floor.

How is it significant?

The David Jones Store is of architectural, historical and social significance to the State of Victoria.

Why is it significant?

The David Jones store is architecturally significant for its distinctive and intact terracotta facade, making it one of
the most exuberant and colourful interwar buildings in the city and an early and flamboyant example of the call in
the 1920s for more colour in city buildings. It was the first major Chicago-inspired Commercial Gothic building in
Victoria, a style that was later adopted for the Manchester Unity and Century Buildings in Swanston Street, and
which exemplifies the American influence on architecture in Melbourne at the time. It is significant as a notable
example of the work of the prominent Melbourne architect Harry Norris, a major architect of Moderne style
buildings in Melbourne in the 1920s and 1930s.

The David Jones store is historically significant as one of the most important of the retail stores built in Melbourne
in the early twentieth century. It is significant for its association with G J Coles & Co, which became a household
name in retailing in Australia. The store was the flagship store of the once ubiquitous chain of Coles variety stores
for over fifty years, from 1929 to 1987 and its cafeteria was a favourite meeting place for generations of
Melbourne people. The site also has an association with the Coles Book Arcade, which was a Melbourne
institution for the previous fifty years.

The David Jones store is socially significant as a favourite shopping destination for generations of Victorians.

Permit Exemptions

General Exemptions:

General exemptions apply to all places and objects included in the Victorian Heritage Register (VHR). General
exemptions have been designed to allow everyday activities, maintenance and changes to your property, which
don’t harm its cultural heritage significance, to proceed without the need to obtain approvals under the Heritage
Act 2017.

Places of worship: In some circumstances, you can alter a place of worship to accommodate religious practices
without a permit, but you must notify the Executive Director of Heritage Victoria before you start the works or
activities at least 20 business days before the works or activities are to commence.

Subdivision/consolidation: Permit exemptions exist for some subdivisions and consolidations. If the subdivision or
consolidation is in accordance with a planning permit granted under Part 4 of the Planning and Environment Act
1987 and the application for the planning permit was referred to the Executive Director of Heritage Victoria as a
determining referral authority, a permit is not required.

Specific exemptions may also apply to your registered place or object. If applicable, these are listed below.
Specific exemptions are tailored to the conservation and management needs of an individual registered place or
object and set out works and activities that are exempt from the requirements of a permit. Specific exemptions
prevail if they conflict with general exemptions.

Find out more about heritage permit exemptions here.

Specific Exemptions:

General Conditions: 1. All exempted alterations are to be planned and carried out in a manner which prevents
damage to the fabric of the registered place or object. General Conditions: 2. Should it become apparent during

https://application-hub.app.planning.vic.gov.au/hv/createForm/EDNotificationHV
https://www.heritage.vic.gov.au/permits-and-approvals/heritage-permit-exemptions


further inspection or the carrying out of works that original or previously hidden or inaccessible details of the place
or object are revealed which relate to the significance of the place or object, then the exemption covering such
works shall cease and Heritage Victoria shall be notified as soon as possible. General Conditions: 3. If there is a
conservation policy and plan endorsed by the Executive Director, all works shall be in accordance with it. Note:
The existence of a Conservation Management Plan or a Heritage Action Plan endorsed by the Executive
Director, Heritage Victoria provides guidance for the management of the heritage values associated with the site.
It may not be necessary to obtain a heritage permit for certain works specified in the management plan. General
Conditions: 4. Nothing in this determination prevents the Executive Director from amending or rescinding all or
any of the permit exemptions. General Conditions: 5. Nothing in this determination exempts owners or their
agents from the responsibility to seek relevant planning or building permits from the responsible authorities where
applicable. Minor Works : Note: Any Minor Works that in the opinion of the Executive Director will not adversely
affect the heritage significance of the place may be exempt from the permit requirements of the Heritage Act. A
person proposing to undertake minor works may submit a proposal to the Executive Director. If the Executive
Director is satisfied that the proposed works will not adversely affect the heritage values of the site, the applicant
may be exempted from the requirement to obtain a heritage permit. If an applicant is uncertain whether a heritage
permit is required, it is recommended that the permits co-ordinator be contacted.

Construction dates 1929,  1939, 

Architect/Designer Norris, Harry A, 

Heritage Act Categories Registered place, 

Other Names 276-286 LITTLE COLLINS STREET,   COLES STORE,  

Hermes Number 2828

Property Number

History

CONTEXTUAL HISTORY

(from Coles website; Building 13.2.1933, pp 39-40; and nomination report)

Melbourne's city centre developed strongly in the 1920s and 1930s, and there was an awareness of the need to
cultivate an attractive urban environment. There was a continuing interest in classicism for commercial
architecture, but also influence from new architectural ideas, such as the Moderne and Art Deco and a call for
more colour in city buildings.

The founder of Coles stores, George Coles, purchased his father's business at twenty five years of age, and
travelled to the United States to study best practices in retailing. He was fascinated by the American '5 and 10
cent stores' and, in 1914, taking his brothers Jim and Arthur into the business, opened a variety store in Smith
Street, Collingwood. In 1921 he established G J Coles & Co Pty Ltd, this time with brothers Edgar, Kenneth and
Norman.

Coles stores had many departments ranging from cosmetics and toiletries, underwear and cheap clothing, food,
stationery, hardware and even pets. With the slogan 'Nothing over 2/6' they were extremely successful, and
during the 1920s they expanded and established more stores throughout Australia. Stores were established in
existing buildings or more often in new buildings, many designed for them by Harry Norris in a Streamlined
Moderne style. In 1924 Coles opened a store in Bourke Street, in the heart of Melbourne's retailing precinct,
opposite the Myer Emporium. A central distributing warehouse and buying office was established at 414
Swanston Street. By 1933, despite the Depression, the chain had grown to twenty-seven branches, including
three in N S W and one each in Adelaide, Brisbane and Perth. In Melbourne there was also a shipping
department at 394 La Trobe Street and a warehouse at 199 A'Beckett Street.



Coles sent the prominent Melbourne architect Harry Norris to the USA to study retail design before he designed
the new flagship Bourke Street store. He travelled overseas annually between 1928 and 1941 and his work
showed a strong awareness of trends in American architecture. Both the Coles Store and the Majorca Building,
built at about the same time, are Californian-inspired. The Spanish Colonial Revival Majorca House's facade is
clad in blue terracotta faience, gold foliated and spinal columns and other decorative details. The Coles store is in
a vertical Moderne style with pink terracotta faience cladding.

In Building (13.2.1933, p 38) an article devoted to 'Retail Houses. Modern Developments. Coles, Woolworths,
Horderns, Myers, Etc" praised Coles for

the considerable amount of wisdom shown in the selection of their architects. Everywhere the designs of their
buildings are appropriate for a concern carrying on business of the nature of this firm; in that they are striking and
possess advertising value. Whilst preserving good architecture as distinct from so many buildings in which this
quality is sacrificed for startling effects. (p 41)

The same article noted that

the continued introduction of colours to the recent facades of city buildings has been urged by "Building" for many
years. Melbourne, with its grey cement structures has been described by visiting architects and artists as a drab
city architecturally, but the introduction of colour through the medium of terra cotta is now supplying a long felt
want and the brightening up of the new buildings by various colours is suggesting to the architect of today that
colour study is an essential consideration which will give greater individuality to his buildings. (p 38)

Harry Norris was the architect who responded most vigorously to the call in the 1920s for more colour in
Melbourne buildings. Coles is perhaps the best example, others being Majorca House, Mitchell House and
Nicholas House. Norris was also perhaps the greatest exponent of faience in Melbourne in this period (Goad,
Melbourne Architecture, p 111), using it not only for the Nicholas building but Majorca House (1928-9) and the
ground-breaking jazz facades of the former G J Coles Store.

Coles is still a major force in Australian retailing. In 1960 it opened its first supermarket in North Balwyn, Victoria,
and by 1973, had established a supermarket in every Australian capital city. It now employs more than 92,000
staff and serving over 4.5 million customers every week. Coles is part of Coles Group Limited - Australia's largest
retailing group and one of the top twenty-five retailers in the world.

Harry Norris

Harry Norris was one of the most prominent of the Australian architects to travel overseas and bring back the
Deco style to Victoria. In 1929 he was sent to the USA by his client G J Coles to study retail design before he
designed the Bourke Street store for them. He travelled overseas annually between 1928 and 1941 and his work
always showed a strong awareness of trends in American architecture. He designed many of the Coles stores,
including the ones in Smith Street and Ivanhoe.

Among his major buildings were the Nicholas Building (1925-6, VHR H2119), the Majorca Building (1928-30),
Burnham Beeches (1930-3, VHR H868), and Mitchell House (1937), a streamlined Moderne office block which
drew inspiration from the work of the German architect Erich Mendelsohn.

HISTORY OF PLACE

The new Coles Store in Bourke Street was built as G J Coles' principal store, and was one of a series of
department stores and warehouses across Victoria which the prominent Melbourne architect Harry Norris
designed for the retail giant. It was then one of the most distinctive buildings in Little Collins and Bourke Streets.

G J Coles & Co Ltd purchased the site of the well-known E W Coles Book Arcade (no relation) at 299-303 Bourke
Street and the eastern, seven-storey, half of the present store was built on that site in 1928 by E A Watts. It was
extended to the west in 1938 by the builders Cockram & Sons. The extensions matched the existing building in
style, but were only of four storeys, and destroyed the symmetry of the first building.

The article in Building (13.2.1933) as well as describing the building exterior (see below) notes the design of the
interiors. It had executive offices, including a public office, a 'beautifully appointed board room, with its splendidly
selected maple panelling and well designed leadlights and furniture', a large central general office and a
managing director's room. Partitions were of Luxfer glass. In the store there was 'lavish use of marble, laid in



Vandyke design of elongated pattern, and a wide marble staircase leading down to Little Collins Street. The lift
cages were in maple, with doors of Luxfer glass. On the first floor was a cafeteria, decorated in a Mexican-
inspired Art Deco style, with floors of mosaic tiles in greens, black and gold and a deeply panelled ceiling. The
cafeteria was probably the largest in Australia: the cafeteria seated one thousand people and the 'quick lunch'
counter added to the mezzanine floor in 1930 could seat forty-eight. Staff had their own cafeteria, as well as a
hospital department staffed by a trained nurse and a gymnasium.

The building was sold to David Jones (Aust) Pty Ltd and in about 1987 Bates Smart & McCutcheon were
responsible for the conversion of the store, which left the facades intact but removed the cafeteria and much of
the internal Moderne detailing.

Assessment Against Criteria

a. The historical importance, association with or relationship to Victoria's history of the place or object

The David Jones building is one of the most important of the retail stores built in Melbourne in the early twentieth
century. It is significant for its association with G J Coles & Co, which became a household name in retailing in
Australia. The store was the flagship store of the once ubiquitous chain of Coles variety stores for over fifty years,
from 1929 to 1987 and its cafeteria was a favourite meeting place for generations of Melbourne people. The site
also has an association with the Coles Book Arcade, which was a Melbourne institution for the previous fifty
years.

b. The importance of a place or object in demonstrating rarity or uniqueness

The David Jones store was the first major Chicago-inspired Commercial Gothic building in Victoria, a style that
was later adopted for the Manchester Unity and Century Buildings in Swanston Street, and which exemplifies the
American influence on architecture in Melbourne at the time.

c. The place or object's potential to educate, illustrate or provide further scientific investigation in relation to
Victoria's cultural heritage

d. The importance of a place or object in exhibiting the principal characteristics or the representative nature of a
place or object as part of a class or type of places or objects

The David Jones store is a notable and early example in Victoria of the Commercial Gothic style. It is a fine
example of the work of the prominent Melbourne architect Harry Norris, a major architect of Moderne style
buildings in Melbourne in the 1920s and 1930s. It is one of the most exuberant and colourful interwar buildings in
the city and an early and flamboyant example of the call in the 1920s for more colour in city buildings

e. The importance of the place or object in exhibiting good design or aesthetic characteristics and/or in exhibiting
a richness, diversity or unusual integration of features

The David Jones store is important for its distinctive and intact glazed terracotta facades.

f. The importance of the place or object in demonstrating or being associated with scientific or technical
innovations or achievements

g. The importance of the place or object in demonstrating social or cultural associations

The David Jones store is socially significant as a favourite shopping destination for generations of Victorians.

h. Any other matter which the Council deems relevant to the determination of cultural heritage significance

Plaque Citation

This Commercial Gothic style building, with a distinctive terracotta facade, was designed by Harry Norris in 1929
as the main store of G J Coles & Co in Victoria. It became David Jones in 1987.

Extent of Registration



1. All of the building marked B1 on Diagram 2154 held by the Executive Director.

2. All of the land marked L1 on Diagram 2154 held by the Executive Director, being all of the land described in
Certificates of Title Volume 10275 Folios 384, 385 and 386.

This place/object may be included in the Victorian Heritage Register pursuant to the Heritage Act 2017. Check
the Victorian Heritage Database, selecting 'Heritage Victoria' as the place source.

For further details about Heritage Overlay places, contact the relevant local council or go to Planning Schemes
Online http://planningschemes.dpcd.vic.gov.au/

http://planningschemes.dpcd.vic.gov.au/

